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Introduction


Whilst I was researching my family history in the Stourbridge vicinity, it quickly became apparent that no general book on the history of Stourbridge has been published for nearly one hundred years. From the many different sources and documents collected over the years, I have attempted to fill this gap. The area of Stourbridge featured in this book covers the ancient manor of Oldswinford; this includes the town of Stourbridge and hamlets of Lye, Wollescote, Swinford, Norton and Wollaston, all of which were within the County of Worcester until 1974. The manor differs from the ancient parish of Oldswinford in one important respect—it excludes Amblecote, which has seen a completely separate manorial history.


Although the book commences with the pre-history of the Stourbridge area, the name Stourbridge itself first came into existence sometime in the 12th or 13th century. When people refer today to the town of Stourbridge, they often assume that the village of Oldswinford has always been a part of it. But for many hundreds of years up to the end of the 19th century the town of Stourbridge and the parish of Oldswinford were two separate administrative areas. Before the 15th century their roles were completely reversed, with Oldswinford being the centre of administration and Stourbridge (or Bedcote, as it was then known) subservient to it. Local government reorganisation during the past century has resulted in the gradual blurring of the boundaries that once enclosed the ancient manor of Oldswinford.


The administrative area of Stourbridge lay, until the creation of the County of West Midlands in 1974, in the north-eastern corner of Worcestershire and this had been true for the previous thousand years. The county town of Worcester lies some 21 miles to the south. The ecclesiastical parish of Oldswinford had been part of the Diocese of Worcester for a similar number of years and remains so today. Immediately to the north of the river Stour was the county of Stafford (with its county town some 30 miles away), and some 10 miles to the north-west towards Bridgnorth is the county of Shropshire. To the east of Stourbridge lies the industrial Black Country, with the town of Dudley some five miles distant. Within the eastern perimeters of Stourbridge can be found the industrial iron and clay belt that has been so important to local industry, these natural resources having played a vital role in the history and development of the town. Further to the east, at a distance of some 12 miles, lies the prosperous city of Birmingham.


The manor of Oldswinford forms a peculiar elongated shape stretching three miles from east to west, with the village of Oldswinford lying somewhere near the centre of its narrowest part. Major factors in this shape are the geographical features of the surrounding landscape. Hilly ground rising to some 600 feet dominates the eastern boundary from Oldnall to Foxcote and Wollescote, and a further natural boundary is formed to the west by the 400 ft. ridge running from Wollaston in the north to Norton in the south, aptly named The Ridge. The northern boundary is denoted by the river Stour, into which flow several streams from the surrounding high ground. Rivers have always been important landmarks and assumed their names at a very early date in history. The Stour is no exception and in the Middle Ages was spelt Stur, giving some clue as to its pronunciation at this time. The word probably derives from the Celtic stir or storm meaning rapid or turbid (compare the German Sturm); there are several other waterways in the country with the same name. Upon occasions the raging river Stour caused tremendous damage to the numerous mills and other buildings along its banks. To the north of the river lies the settlement and ancient manor of Amblecote.
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1 A plan of the ancient parish of Oldswinford, before it was sub-divided in the 19th century.







I


The Stourbridge Area in Early Times


Pre-History


During the first two decades of the 20th century mammalian remains were discovered near the gasworks in the sandstone north of the river Stour. Amongst those remains were the bones and teeth of the mammoth elephant, bison, rhinoceros and hippopotamus dating to a warmer period between ice ages.1 Evidence of human activity in the Stourbridge area dates back some 10,000 years to the Mesolithic period, although before Saxon times any settlement would have been of a very temporary nature. Sometime after 3000 B.C. settlers from Spain and Portugal arrived on the Atlantic coasts of Britain, bringing with them cattle, sheep and seed corn and travelling over higher ground, this being the start of the Neolithic period. On the eastern boundary of Stourbridge in the Oldnall Farm, Foxcote and Lutley Gutter areas can be found evidence of Neolithic activity and a number of ancient flint objects have been discovered in the fields there. Tribes followed the ancient ridgeway that crossed the higher ground from Wychbury, Foxcote and Oldnall towards Cradley and it was from there that the Stourbridge area was eventually settled.


Further waves of tribes followed, making their way up the Severn Valley from the south-west. By the fifth century B.C., iron instruments were being used. As well as living in open villages, tribes were building forts on the hilltops. These forts were used as temporary refuges in times of danger, and were therefore not inhabited all the time. The defences were initially small wooden palisades, but had become quite elaborate by the time of the Roman invasion. One such fort was just south of Stourbridge on Wychbury Hill. Covering in excess of seven acres, it had a series of steep banks and two ditches. Its small summit enclosure is now densely overgrown by ancient trees and has never been fully excavated. Several other Iron-Age hill-forts existed in the area, including those at Clent, Kinver and Barrow Hill near Pensnett.




Stourbridge through Time: 48 to 1086


 c. 48 Romans conquer local tribes


 c. 100 Roman Road constructed


 c. 409 Romans leave the area


 c. 577 Saxons capture local Hwicce settlements


     680 Diocese of Worcester formed


     736 Charter granting land at Sture in Usmere into monastic use


 c. 900 Earliest church in Oldswinford probably built


 c. 954 Charter granting land in Swinford


c. 1016 Amblecote and Kingswinford annexed to Staffordshire


    1066 Norman invasion


    1086 Domesday Survey mentions Oldswinford





At the time of the Roman invasion, the area to the south of Stourbridge was the northernmost area of land occupied by the Dobuni tribe, and was probably the site of many a skirmish with the Cornovii and Tomsaetan tribes to the north and east. The Dobuni occupied a vast tract of land, from Wiltshire and Somerset in the south to Herefordshire and Worcestershire in the north. They were well organised and comparatively civilised for that era, issuing silver coins from 30 B.C. to A.D. 10 that enabled them to trade with mainland Europe. It is interesting to surmise that the distinct change in dialect between Stourbridge and Kidderminster to the south-west originated from the tribes of that period.


The Romans


The Romans under Claudius invaded England with some 20,000 men in A.D. 43 and made their base in London. They reached the Stourbridge area some five years later and after stubborn resistance and bloody skirmishes disarmed the local tribes from their hilltop at Clent. The invasion did not result in any significant settlement, but finds of Roman pottery have been made in the vicinity of Oldnall Farm. The nearest Roman towns were at Wroxeter (Viroconium) to the north and Gloucester (Glevum) and Cirencester (Corinium) to the south. The British population, numbering between 500,000 and 1,000,000 at that time, remained overwhelmingly Celtic. In 211 Britain was divided into two provinces; this district was part of the military province, evidenced by a substantial military fort some five miles away at Greensforge. In 409 the Romans ended their rule of Britain and local warriors stepped into the vacuum left.


Before the year 100 the Romans built a military road running from Droitwich (Salinae), an important salt production centre in the Iron Age, to their camp at Greensforge and onwards to Wroxeter. That road passed along the western boundary of Stourbridge from Norton to Wollaston, its ancient route being shown on the latest Ordnance Survey map of the area. Although County Lane and part of Sandy Lane at Norton were part of that route, the road did not follow the line of Sandy Lane from Westwood Avenue through to High Park Avenue (the latter being part of an 18th-century turnpike road). Instead it followed the Ridge Top, close to the later parish boundary. The route then crossed Dunsley Lane just above its fork with Gibbet Lane (an area now called Round Hill), bisected the Wollaston to Stewponey Road near High Park Farm and forded the river Stour near where Prestwood Drive now crosses it. After the Romans eventually abandoned their defence of this area at the beginning of the fifth century, the importance of the Roman road slowly declined and played no further part in influencing the pattern of highways that grew up over the next thousand years.


The Saxons


In the mid-fifth century, Saxons began to settle in Britain. They first arrived in Kent and by 500 had settled in Wessex. In 577 the West Saxons captured Gloucester, Cirencester and Bath, the homeland of the Hwicce people whose influence would have spread up the Severn Valley to the Stourbridge area; at various times during the next hundred years the Hwicce were under the rule of either Wessex or Mercia. The population of the country as a whole probably halved between the departure of the Romans and the arrival of the Normans in 1066. The hill-forts may still have been used at times of unrest, but the seventh century was basically peaceful in this area and small homesteads and villages were built on the higher banks above the Stour and on the smaller hilltops of the area. Family groups became more close-knit in Saxon times and new hamlets were carved out by the clearing of virgin land with plough teams of oxen; two or three unfenced fields would have surrounded those homesteads. Any Celtic place-names existing in the area at that time were replaced by Saxon names. At the heart of each Saxon district was a manor house or tun, run by a local official. The hide became the unit of land, being originally sufficient land for one family to cultivate using one plough, which on average amounted to about 120 acres. The hide also became a unit of taxation and ownership of five hides could render a landowner liable to military service. In about the year 650, hides were grouped into administration areas called Hundreds, the Stourbridge district becoming part of the Clent Hundred. Soon after that local manors became units of jurisdiction, the Saxon overlord assuming responsibility for the inhabitants living within his lordship. The word manor simply meant a dwelling place, and this explains why one quite often finds a village or town served by more than one manor.


The origins of many local names in the Stourbridge area date from that time. One feature that is immediately apparent is a series of place-names ending in ‘cott’ or ‘cote’—Foxcote, Wollescote, Prescote, Pircote, Bedcote and Amblecote. The Saxon origin of this ending was merely a cottage or smallholding, and could conceivably be taken as evidence of the way in which the Saxons started to move down from the higher ground. Foxcote is mentioned in the 10th century as Foxcotun, meaning the Foxes Cottages. Wollescote probably obtained its name from an Anglo-Saxon person named Wulfhere. Bedcote was the area around the present town centre district of Stourbridge and its name probably originated from the old English female name Bettu (or Betta/Bettica). Amblecote also derives from the female name of Aemela.


Other local place-names suggest vital clues in the search for the Saxon origin of the area. The suffix ‘ton’ in Wollaston meant a stockade and indicates a settlement from Saxon times. The first part of this name possibly relates to a Saxon forename such as Wulfgar (one Wulfgar was our first Christian king of Mercia from 639 to 675). The hamlet of The Lye has a name that also suggests early origins, because the Saxon word ley meant a clearing or farm consisting of untilled pasture ground. This could suggest that Lye developed as a settlement slightly later than the early place-names ending in ‘cote’. Oldnall sits high above the Stour Valley on the eastern boundary of the parish and manor of Oldswinford. The Saxon name Oldenhall occasionally indicated that an ancient Saxon chief had built his stronghold on that particular site, but a more likely derivation for this name is from old English olde and halh, meaning an old long narrow valley. It is quite probable that Oldnall was the first site in the area to have a more permanent settlement, from which people moved out to the other parts of the manor of Oldswinford.




[image: illustration]


2 Red Hill looking in the direction of the town, c.1910.





Tracks grew up to link the various cotes or hamlets and through routes became established linking other local villages of importance. Until the 13th century the town of Stourbridge (or Bedcote as it was then known) was no more important than any other hamlet within the manor of Oldswinford. The Saxon road system would not, therefore, have had its focal point in the centre of Stourbridge, but near the crossroads where Glasshouse Hill now meets Red Hill (and where the Labour in Vain public house now stands in Oldswinford). This theory is backed up by the fact that two main connecting routes ran through the manor in early times. One ran from the ancient hill settlement of Kinver eastwards towards Halesowen, following the present Dunsley Road, South Road, Heath Lane, Glasshouse Hill, Chawn Hill, Wollescote Road, Brook Holloway and Oldnall Road. The second route ran south from Kingswinford to Clent, which was the seat of the Hundred Court. That track crossed the narrowest part of the manor following the present Lower High Street, Upper High Street, Church Street, Red Hill, Church Road and the footpath past the former White Hall towards Hagley Road at Pedmore. The route appears more pronounced on maps before 1800 than on modern maps. On those early maps Church Street was a straight-line continuation from Stourbridge High Street, and it is likely that Hagley Road was developed somewhat later than Red Hill. The other point that might mystify the reader today is that Church Road now ends abruptly at Oldswinford church. Before the new chancel was added to the church in 1898, this track did continue straight past the old White Hall. The former importance of Church Road also explains the position where the mother church of the manor was built, as at that time it would have fronted onto a major through route and would have been close to the original centre of Oldswinford village.


This was an era when the English were being converted to Christianity. Although some Romans were already Christians, the religion gained little hold at that time. But in 597 St Augustine’s mission arrived in Kent and in 601 he was enthroned as first archbishop of Canterbury. The church was then united through all the English kingdoms. A diocese was founded at Worcester in 680. Minsters or monasteries were also founded and those institutions ranged from Benedictine houses to simple communities of priests. They were often controlled by families of noble patrons and became the early parochial system, pre-dating most parish churches (including the mother church of Oldswinford). Priests and monks travelled around preaching to local communities (often under a preaching cross) and performing Christian baptisms and burials. The system of church taxes called tithes developed at this time.


Most charters of the period were grants to churches. By a local charter in 736, Aethelbald, King of the South English (or Mercia), granted land with fields, woods, fisheries and meadows at Sture in Usmere to his faithful companion Ealdorman (or Earl) Cyneberht for the establishment of a monastic estate.2 The grant stated that the estate ‘is bounded on both sides by the river [Stour] and has on its northern side the wood which they call Kinver, but on the west another of which the name is Morfe’. Usmere was the name of a province in Mercia before counties were formed. The place-name Sture was probably a large area lying close to the river Stour, bounded by Stourbridge and Kidderminster and including the present-day Ismere in the middle. A note at the end of the charter referred to another estate within the wood of Morfe named Brochyle being granted to the same earl for religious use. Both woodlands were within the ancient Kinver Forest which included land that stretched as far as the Oldswinford boundary and it is therefore open to conjecture whether that was the area called Brockhill on the hillside to the south of Brook Holloway. The Danes later destroyed the monastery and no trace of its remains has ever been found.


Viking Raids


In 789 the first Vikings (a word meaning pirates) attacked the south of England, followed by further raids on the north-east a few years later. The Oldswinford area of Mercia did not come under Danish rule until about 874 and therefore escaped the worst excesses of destruction and devastation. Five years later Alfred the Great cleared Danes out of all Mercian territory west of Watling Street and life here returned to normal, the area never becoming part of the Danelaw. Local battles, however, did still occur; a battle between the Mercians and West Saxons took place near Tettenhall in about 910 and a fort was built at Bridgnorth in the next few years. There were also pirate raids up the river Severn during that decade.


The area known as Swinford originally consisted of some 12 hides in Worcestershire and included the places we now know as Kingswinford, Amblecote, Stourbridge, Oldswinford and Pedmore. In 954 King Eadred (who was the grandson of Alfred) invaded Northumbria and killed the last king of York. In around that same year he granted to the local lord (or thegn) Burhelm a small estate of six hides in a place called Swine Ford by the local inhabitants. Included in its six hides (three each for the manors of Pedmore and Oldswinford) were all its fields, pastures, meadows and woods, with all rights attached except the duties of building defences and bridges. It is signed by Archbishops Oda and Oscetel, Bishops Cynsige and Adulf, and noblemen Athelstan, Athelmund and Alhelm. This is the earliest written document that can be shown to relate to land in the manors of Oldswinford and Pedmore.3 By the time of the Norman invasion in 1066, however, the manors of Pedmore and Oldswinford were under the ownership of two different persons.




[image: illustration]


3 The Liber Albus copy of King Eadred’s 10th-century charter concerning land in Swinford, written partly in Latin and partly in Anglo-Saxon.





The boundaries of land in this charter were described as starting from the Swine Ford (on the river Stour), proceeding east to Pecg’s Ford (the pig’s ford), from there to Deopanford (or deep ford) and finally to Deonflincford, before turning away from the river to follow the line of the modern Salt Brook. Exactly where those fords were situated nobody will ever know, but it is likely that they were situated near where the river is now crossed by bridges. The ford of the swine was probably on the road from Oldswinford to Kingswinford at the bottom of Lower High Street Stourbridge, with the other fords being at Bagley Street, Dudley Road and Hayes Lane at Lye. Evidence of a former Roman road in the manor is afforded by the word Straete (or made-up road) and of the ancient track from Kingswinford to Clent by the word Strete. The only made-up roads at that time were those remaining from the Roman occupation period. Other surviving landmarks mentioned in the charter were Cudan Dene (the hollow of cuda and possibly the modern Lutley Gutter), Foxcotun (Foxcote), Broce (the brook or possibly Brockhill), Walacrofte (the walled croft), Eostacote (possibly an error for Preostacote meaning priest’s cottage) and Aclea (oak wood or leasow).


The prefix ‘Old’ was then added to that part of Swinford south of the Stour, to distinguish the area from the five hides of land known as Swinford Regis or Kingswinford north of the river, which still belonged to the king. But both manors were still called Suineforde in Domesday Book in 1086. Kingswinford continued as a royal manor under completely different ownership from Oldswinford and both manors have subsequently changed hands in their entirety whenever a change in ownership has taken place. Both Swinfords were initially in the county of Worcestershire, which was in existence by the year 1000. The Hundred (created some three hundred years earlier and by then a subdivision of the County for administration purposes) had its own court. Below the Hundred the population was organised into groups of 10 households called Tithings, responsible for their own law enforcement. There followed a turbulent period in the history of the locality when Aethelred (King of Mercia and known as The Unready) died in 1016 without heirs. Aeuic, Sheriff of Staffordshire, then seized Amblecote and Kingswinford from the heirs of a deacon of the church at Worcester named Aethelsige and both those areas north of the river became part of Staffordshire. By 1066 the one hide of land known as Amblecote was under separate ownership from its larger neighbours.


A local Saxon thegn probably built the mother church of St Mary’s, Oldswinford early in the 10th century. Because the bounds of the parish included Amblecote on the north side of the Stour, the parish is likely to have been carved out before the 954 charter. This follows because the then thegn would not have included Amblecote in his parish if it had been under separate ownership from his own manor of Oldswinford. He would also have been unlikely to build churches both in Oldswinford and Pedmore (within one mile of each other) if both areas of land had been under common ownership.


Norman Invasion


Rapid growth in the population meant that major administration changes were taking place by the turn of the millennium. These were to stay in place for many centuries afterwards. Before the Norman invasion in 1066, Oldswinford’s three hides were owned by Wulfwin, Pedmore’s three hides by Thorgar, Amblecote’s one hide by two unnamed men of Earl Alfgar and Kingswinford’s five hides by King Edward himself. The invasion would probably not have caused any military action affecting the common man in this area. But the Saxon lords of the manor were replaced by King William’s favourites and new taxes raised. Under King Aethelred a highly efficient annual tax system had evolved to meet the cost of keeping the Danes at bay; this was called the Danegeld and was based on the ownership of hides of land. In 1085 William, faced with a threatened Danish invasion, raised a large army of foreign mercenaries, billeted them on landowners ‘each according to his land’, and levied a large Danegeld to pay for their services. Many disputes broke out as to who owned land and commissioners were sent out to ascertain the true ownership, asking questions about the number of hides, ploughs, people, woods, meadows, mills and fishponds and an estimate of their value. The survey was probably just an update of earlier Saxon ones, which themselves have not survived. The resulting Domesday Book became the equivalent of a legal bible, carried around by judges on their circuits for the next few centuries to help determine disputes about ownership and taxation.




[image: illustration]


4 Domesday Book entries for Swinford and Pedmore in 1086.





The Domesday entry for Suineford related that there were three hides of land valued at six pounds. Acard now held the land from William FitzAnsculf, his tenant-in-chief. The area had only one plough on Acard’s personal demesne (land owned and farmed by the lord of the manor himself). Living within the manor were a priest, five villeins (villagers with a not insubstantial holding of land, but who were obliged to perform a variety of services), 11 bordars (smallholders or cottagers of inferior status with only a little land and seven ploughs between them) and two serfs (slaves with no land and in effect the personal property of the lord of the manor). In addition there was a mill valued at five shillings (which would almost certainly have belonged to Acard) and a league (or mile) of woodland.4 From this survey one can build up a picture of a small community with probably fewer than 100 men, women and children, their status varying according to the amount of land held by each of them. Of the surrounding manors Acard also held Pedmore in 1086. A man named Paganus (or Payne) held land at Amblecote and Cradley from William FitzAnsculf and King William obviously still held Kingswinford directly.


Domesday Book made no mention of our present town of Stourbridge. The birth of the town had to wait for at least another century.




II


Stourbridge in the Middle Ages


Domesday Book to the Arrival of the Black Death


In the years immediately following Domesday Book, the face of Stourbridge was completely unrecognisable from the way it looks today and no buildings have survived from that era. The settlement of Bedcote, as it was then known, lay sprawled on the steep banks above the ford that enabled passage across the river Stour. The incline of the present Lower High Street away from the river was far greater than it is today as it wended its way towards the crossing with the present Coventry Street and Crown Lane. Single-storey wooden cottages with panels of wattle and daub would have lined the narrow roads on either side of that ancient crossroads. Many of those buildings had just one room (the hall) but sometimes this was extended to encompass a pantry for the bread and a buttery for any drink. There were open fires in the halls and straw on floors and fleas would have bred in the bedding. Virtually no trace of any building would have been found at the southern end of the present High Street. Because of the importance of the river at that time, there was probably a track along the river’s southern bank leading to the manorial mill and onwards towards Lye along the track that became Mill Street. Part of that track was later called The Cliff because of the steep gradients of the banks of the river and the cave dwellings nearby. The Lutley family of Enville were the earliest recorded lords of Bedcote, but the Stafford family owned the neighbouring manor of Amblecote from as early as 1292.1 By 1317 the Staffords were accumulating significant land in Bedcote, including Bedcote Mill.2 The site of the manorial hall of the lord of Bedcote has never been located, but this would have been the only structure built of stone.




Stourbridge through Time: 1086 to 1485


     1199 First known rector at St Mary’s, Oldswinford


     1218 Halesowen Abbey founded with its Grange Farm at Oldswinford


     1255 First documented use of the name Stourbridge


     1275 Forty inhabitants in Oldswinford pay tax


     1285 Bernard de Bruys becomes lord of Oldswinford manor


     1292 Stafford family own land and mill in Bedcote


     1322 Oldswinford manor passes to Joan Botetourt on death of John de Somery


     1327 Only 19 inhabitants of Oldswinford paying tax


     1349 Black Death kills some 40 per cent of local inhabitants


     1350 Legal enquiry held at Bedcote into rioting at Worcester Priory


     1366 Bedcote owned by Lutley family and becomes sub-manor of Oldswinford


     1386 Joyce Burnell inherits Oldswinford on death of Sir John Botetourt


  c.1390 St Mary’s church tower probably built


     1407 Ownership of Oldswinford split on death of Joyce Burnell


     1416 Bedcote owned by Stafford family


1417-19 Joan Beauchamp purchases majority share of Oldswinford manor


     1430 Chantry chapel and school built in Lower High Street


     1435 Manor of Oldswinford passes to Sir James Butler, later Earl of Ormond


     1461 King grants majority share of manor to Fulk Stafford


     1463 Sir James Scott acquires majority share of manor


     1481 Manor given to Dean and Canons of St George’s, Windsor by King


     1482 Edward IV grants a market charter to Stourbridge


     1485 End of Wars of the Roses
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5 The 14th-century tower of St Mary’s, Oldswinford. The spire was a familiar landmark, but removed in 1992.





There were no dwellings along the track between Bedcote and the then more important centre of Oldswinford (now Church Street and Red Hill). The cottages of the residents of Oldswinford lay between the present crossroads at the bottom of Glasshouse Hill and the church at the end of Church Road, backing onto the stream to the east. The church at the time of Domesday Book would almost certainly have been a small wooden structure, only being rebuilt in stone during the next two centuries. The earliest recorded incumbent held office in 1199 and the stone tower (the oldest part of the present building) was built towards the end of the 14th century. The FitzAnsculf family, who were overlords of the manor of Oldswinford, came from Picquigny near Amiens in the Departement of Somme, France. The manor passed later to the Paganel and Somery families, but was sub-let at certain times. In 1212 the tenant was the Earl of Salisbury and in 1235/6 Ralph de Merston. In 1285 Bernard de Bruys (whose wife was Agatha) became tenant and in 1290 the manor was worth nine pounds. Bernard de Bruys was succeeded by his son (another Bernard) in 1300/1, who in turn surrendered the manor to John de Somery in 1320/1. When John de Somery died, an Inquisition Post Mortem was held on 5 September 1322 to determine his rightful heir.3 This disclosed that he received a total rent of £9 18s. 8d. from the tenants of the manor and that he also held the right to present the parson of the church (called the advowson). There were 31 free tenants (those who owned the freehold to their land) in the manor who paid rent of between 3s. 6d. and 6s. 0d. a year to their lord. One free tenant, however, quaintly paid only ‘one barbed arrow at the Feast of St John the Baptist’. The average landholding was between one eighth and one quarter of a hide. Mention was also made of eight customary tenants with eight half virgates of land (a virgate was a quarter of a hide), paying in total 38s. 8d. yearly at the two terms of the year (25 March and 29 September). John de Somery’s youngest sister Joan, who was the widow of Thomas Botetourt, inherited the manor (together with Northfield and Cradley), but she died in 1338. Her son John, who being a minor did not take control of the manor until 1340, was later knighted and died without an heir in 1386.4 There has never been any consistent way of spelling the name Oldswinford over the centuries but most historical references do spell it as one word, including the early medieval sources that referred to it as Oldeswynford. Only during the 17th century was it commonly denoted as two separate words.


One mile to the west of Bedcote lay the hamlet of Wollaston, which like Bedcote was settled on ground above the river Stour. Wollaston was inhabited at that time in the area between the river and the present junction of Vicarage Road and High Street, with the centre of the hamlet at that point. The present Barley Mow public house was supposed to have been an ancient family residence.5 The residence of the most important family was probably situated on the site of the 17th-century Wollaston Hall to the east of the village centre and near the present Apley Road. Although not officially having the title of a manor, Wollaston remained a separate administrative part of the manor of Oldswinford in several ways. Only one family at any one time owned the land in the hamlet and, in common with Bedcote and the other hamlets of Oldswinford, Wollaston had its own common fields. The first documented reference to Wollaston was in 1240, when William de la Platte and his wife Hawise conveyed land there to Peter de Prestwood.6


Wollescote, The Lye, Wollaston and Swinford were collectively referred to as The Hamlets. The hamlet of Lye lay one mile to the east of Bedcote and it too was settled in a position above the river Stour along the present Dudley Road towards the central crossroads at Lye Cross, around which would have been a scattering of cottages. The track leading eastwards from there terminated as soon as it reached common land at Lye Waste. Unlike some of the other hamlets of Oldswinford manor, Lye never obtained sub-manor status. To earlier generations it was always known as ‘The Lye’, denoting the original Saxon meaning of ‘the clearing’. Simon de Lega (i.e. of the Lye) paid tax in 1275, and in 1311 Robert de la Leye obtained certain land from Bernard de Bruys, lord of the manor of Oldswinford.7 Because Lye lay over coal seams it grew quite rapidly in the Middle Ages.


The hamlet of Wollescote (which was smaller than Lye) also never became a sub-manor of Oldswinford, but remained autonomous within the manor. Walter and Agnete de Wolfrescote paid tax there in 1275, and later the hamlet’s name contracted to Wolscote (before it obtained its present format in the 18th century). The main residence of Wollescote lay high on a hill above the Shepherds Brook, a stream that emptied its waters into the river Stour at Stambermill between Bedcote and Lye at the site of an ancient mill. (The old form of Stambermill was the Saxon Stanburn meaning stone brook; in 1275 Adam de Stanburn lived there.) Between Wollescote and Lye lay Pircote Grange (now simply known as The Grange), a district which had a fascinating history. The name derived from Perry, which in turn denoted pears. Covering basically the area where the Grange Estate can be found today, the land was given to Halesowen Abbey on its foundation in 1218 to be used as a farm to supply the monks with food. In 1275 Richard de Pyrecote was paying tax on land there and in 1291 the Grangia de Pyrcote contained one carucate of land (about one hundred acres) valued at 10 shillings with a fixed rent of 2s. 6d. a year.8 John de Lutteleye (lord of Lutley which lay between Enville and Bobbington) owned land there in the mid-14th century. In medieval times, there were other areas in the manor of Oldswinford which were relatively more prominent than they are today, including Oldnall and Foxcote which have both lost their importance over the years. Oldnall was written as Oldenhalle in 1275, and references two centuries later are made to Oldehalegrene with a rental of one shilling a year. (Only in the 16th century did the name contract to Oldnoll and Oldnall.) Foxcote was mentioned in a document of 1290.9


In contrast Bedcote began to grow at a much faster rate than its immediate neighbours. The reasons for this were primarily connected with its residents beginning to undertake a greater amount of trade than people living in the neighbouring hamlets. From early times coal, clay and iron were being mined and goods were being made from those raw materials. Bedcote was ideally placed on an important convergence of through routes between Coventry to the east, Wales to the west, Chester to the north and the Severn Valley to the south. In addition the river at that time was a powerful force through Bedcote and provided power for the manorial mill. Once the first bridge across the river Stour was built to replace the ford at the bottom of Lower High Street, the name Stourbridge began to replace Bedcote for the central area of the town. The exact date when that bridge was constructed is not recorded, but it was depicted as having four arches and was reputed to be extremely narrow. The first documented evidence for the name of Stourbridge was in 1255, when it was spelt Sturbrug in an Assize Roll (an Assize was a royal declaration or a decision of an assembly as in the case of rents).10 That spelling indicates that until quite recent times the name Stourbridge was pronounced quite differently from what the ear is accustomed to hearing today, although the ancient pronunciation does still survive in the name of nearby Stourton. In a taxation roll of 1333 the name was written as Sturbrugg and in 1358 as Storebrugge.11


By the early 14th century local tracks linked the main hamlets of the manor of Oldswinford to each other. A highway from Stambermill to Oldnall was mentioned in 1311,12 joining up Bedcote and Hay Green to Careless Green via the present Cemetery Road and Belmont Road. Another early track linked Pircote Grange and Prescott to Foxcote, Oldnall and Halesowen Abbey; much traffic must have frequented that road in medieval times. Other lanes connected Oldswinford to Stambermill, Hob Green (Wollescote) to Pedmore, and Wollaston to Amblecote. The liability to maintain highways at that time lay with the owners of the land over which the roads passed, but a major problem for the medieval traveller was the extreme narrowness of many of those tracks. One of the earliest Acts relating to road maintenance was the Statute of Winchester in 1285 which imposed duties upon the manorial constable to ensure that an area of some 200 feet was cleared of bushes and undergrowth on either side of a main highway. Another problem was mud on the highway, and if the roads became ‘foundrous’, the ancient voyager had the legal right to seek a safer way, even if this was across cultivated fields.
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